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National Park Service Certification
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____entered in the National Register
____ See continuation sheet.
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National Register
___ See continuation sheet.
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.  National Register
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OM’'s Master Plan for the community was commissioned by the Atomic Energy
ommission and published in 1948. It evaluated existing housing conditions and
ade recommendations for the construction of new family units. The neighborhoods
f Woodland and Scarboro were designed by SOM and included in the firm’s Master
lan. Under the direction of AEC, thousands of new units were constructed in
oodland, Scarboro, and throughout the city to alleviate an acute housing
hortage. Woodland and Scarboro were constructed in 1949 and opened to occupants
n 1950. The neighborhoods were built quickly and efficiently. The neighborhoods
re joined as a district by a narrow strip of property that lies approximately
id-way between the two. Occupying this property is the original wartime "Colored
utment Area" Health Department. The neighborhoods were combined into a single
istrict because they were designed and constructed with similar ideals and goals

n mind. Both were built to alleviate the post-war housing shortage created by
he removal of several thousands of dilapidated houses.

he same house. types were constructed in both neighborhoods, and the same design
rinciples applied in both areas. SOM designed ten different house types, five
cartment types, and one dormitory style to be constructed in Scarboro. The
>uses were small, constructed of frame or concrete block and were sited on small
>ts that allowed for a high concentration of buildings (see cover form).

itbuildings were not constructed ‘in the neighborhoods until after the houses
2re released for sale to private owners in 1956.

>odland and Scarboro are located south of the Oak Ridge Turnpike, in the areas
1at served as trailer camps and hutment areas during the war. Like the
zighborhoods in the original townsite (separately nominated as the Oak Ridge
istoric District), Woodland and Scarboro are characterized by curved streets
1at respect the topography and are named alphabetically. Scarboro is the smaller
f the two neighborhoods and has a simpler plan than the larger and somewhat more
»mplex Woodland neighborhood. The houses in both neighborhoods are characterized
7/ simple plans and an absence of exterior decoration. They are constructed of
ither concrete block or frame, and many have flat rolled roofing. Woodland has
re single family models, whereas Scarboro is dominated by duplexes.

1en residents were permitted to purchase their houses beginning in 1956, they
:gan to make alterations to them immediately. A common alteration in Woodland
1s been the addition of a gable roof form in cases where the original roof was
.at. The most common alteration to the houses in Scarboro has been the
mversion of duplexes to single family homes. Since these houses are forty years
.d, it is expected that all original roofing material has been replaced because
:arly all houses. have asphalt or composition shingles. Modern development in
odland has been limited because it is bounded on all sides by major city
.reets. The district boundary in Woodland, therefore, follows the original
nundary of the neighborhood. Real estate development in Scarboro has been more
mmon because the neighborhood is separated from the city and therefor has more
om to spread. There has been no cause for the removal of any of the houses in
odland or Scarboro as they were intended to be permanent structures and not
pected to wear out like many of the wartime houses did. It is not known how
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\any houses of each type were constructed. It is estimated that -about nine-
wundred houses were constructed in the two neighborhoods, and 885 were surveyed’
in addition to thirty-one non-contributing infill buildings). About seventy
rercent of the 885 are contributing resources. The descriptions below are of

riginal features and common major alterations. Original numbers are given when
nown. .

.. House Types

iodels 15 and 16 are similar in design and appearance. They are one-story,
oncrete block, rectangular plan, single family dwellings with concrete block
.oad-bearing walls on a concrete slab foundation. The flat roof was originally
.ade of composition materials over wood sheathing on wood rafters. The roof
‘xtended over the entrance to form a porch supported by metal poles. Windows have
etal frame sashes. Each unit was originally heated by radiant heat from the
loor through a thermostatically controlled oil furnace. The living room is
ocated in the front of the house, adjacent to the kitchen and utility room. Two
edrooms are located in the back. The units are approximately 24’ wide by 32°

eep, with a net area of 805 square feet. 184 Model 15 and Model 16 units are
ontributing, out of 288 models that were surveyed.

odel 17 is a one-story, concrete block, single family dwelling with concrete
lock load-bearing walls with block exteriors on a concrete slab foundation. The
lat roof was originally composition roofing material ‘over wood sheathing on wood
afters. The roof of this house type has been altered on a majority of the houses
nd several have gable roofs with asphalt shingles. Model 17 is similar in plan
o Model 15 but includes a third bedroom located between the utility room and
‘ack bedroom. The dimensions are 24’ by 40’, with 987 square feet of space. One-
undred Model 17's were surveyed in the district, and fifty one are contributing.

odel 18 is also a one-story, concrete block, single family dwelling with’
oncrete block load-bearing walls with block exteriors on a concrete -slab
oundation and an irregular plan. Model 18 is the largest of the flat-roofed.
>dels, with 1018 square feet. The house has two wings set at right angles to one
nother. The front wing consists of the utility room, kitchen and living room.
foyer connects the living room to a hallway in the rear wing, which consists
f three bedrooms and a bath. A rear porch is located in the ell. Fifty-two of
ne ninety-seven models surveyed are contrlbutlng

>del 19 is a one-story frame, rectangular plan, single family dwelling on a
ncrete block foundation with a gable roof of asphalt shingles. The walls are
lad with wood siding. Interior partltlons and ceilings are of wallboard and the
1it was heated by a coal-fired hot air furnace. Each unit contains a combination
iving-dining room, three bedrooms, kitchen, bath and utility room. Each house
5 slightly more than 24’ by 36’ with a net area of 904 square feet. The plan is
lmost identical to that of Model 17. The primary entrance opens into the living
>om .and there is a secondary entrance into the utility room. Only sixty-nine
»dels were surveyed, with fifty-one on those contributing.
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»del 20 is a one-story, two family, frame unit on a concrete block foundation.
1e roof is hipped with asphalt shingles and exterior walls are clad with asphalt
- asbestos shingles. Two central interior chimneys are located at the crest of
1@ roof. Partitions and ceilings are of wallboard and each unit was originally
rated with a coal-fired circulating space heater. Each unit contains a
.ving-dining room, kitchen, bath and utility room, with two bedroom in the rear,

1id had a net area of 696 square feet. Forty-two of the forty-six models that:
:rre found are contributing. : - o

»del 21 is a one~story concrete block, two family dwelling unit on a concrete
.ock foundation. The exterior walls are of concrete block and interior
irtitions are wallboard. It is 24 feet wide by 72 feet deep, and each unit
.elds an area of 896 square feet. Each unit contains a living room, dining
.cove, kitchen, utility room, three bedrooms and a bath. The plan is similar to
>del 20, with a third bedroom adjacent to the living room. Forty-six out of
rty-nine models are contributing.

del 22 is a one-story, single family frame dwelling on a concrete block
wundation with a gabled roof covered with asphalt shingles. Interior partitions
d ceilings are of wallboard and painted wood and floors are asphalt tile over
wood sub-floor. Each house has a net area of 1073 square feet containing a
ving-dining room, four bedrooms, kitchen bath and utility room. There is a
"imary entrance which opens into the living room, and a secondary entrance which

r:ads into the utility room. Sixty-nine models were found, fifty-nine of which
‘e contributing. )

dels 23 and 24 are identical- in plan. Each is a one-story, two-family frame
tit with asbestos or cedar shingle -exterior surface. Model 23 has a hipped roof
d Model 24 has a gable roof. They have wallboard partitions and hardwood floors
‘er sub-flooring. Each family unit consists of a living-dining room; two
:«drooms, kitchen, bath, and utility room. The models were built with two primary
‘trances with metal frame doors. Windows are metal frame sash. The entire
ructure measures 24’ by 48’, and each unit has an area of 576 square feet. Both

'dels were built. in .Scarboro. 113 contributing models were found out of 143
rveyed.

veral apartment types were also constructed in the Woodland area- between
tgers Avenue and North Purdue Avenue. Models 25 and 26 are identical
-ree-story brick structures on concrete block foundations and gable roofs. Each
artment. unit ‘consists ‘'of a living-dining room,. one bedroom, kitchen and bath.
‘@ units in Model 25 have 584 square feet and those in Model 26 have 530 square
et. There were originally twenty-three apartment buildings built according to
ese plans. Only ten remain, and all are in.good condition and are contributing.

del 27 is a two story brick structure on a concrete block foundation. rocf. The
ilding is divided into four sections which are separated by metal staircases.
e exterior of each unit has one paired metal sash window and a single one-
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ver-one window. The facade is composad of six units. Interior walls are finished
ith gypsum board and ceilings with plaster. Each apartment has a living-dining
oom, kitchen and two bedrooms divided by ‘a bath, with a net area of 782 square
eet. Only three buildings were built housing a total of forty units, and all
hree remain in good condition today and are. therefore contributing.

odel 28 was a two story brick building on a concrete block foundation with a
lat built-up, roof. Interior partitions were concreté block covered with gypsum
oard. The ceilings were covered with plaster and the floors were covered with
sphalt tile. Steam heat is provided by a central plant. Each unit contains a

iving-dining room, three bedrooms, kitchen-and bath. There were 28 buildings
uilt, but none remain standing.

he Model 30 row house apartment is also no longer extant. The apartment building
as a two story brick row house on a brick foundation and with a gabled roof.
ach two-story unit consisted of a living-dining room, kitchen and utility room
n the first floor with three bedrooms and a bath on the second floor. The net
rea of each apartment was 1124 square feet. These units were demolished prlor
> the construction of the new Manhattan Place Shopping Center.

. Schools and Public Buildings

>odland Elementary School is the only school in the district that was
nstructed between 1947 - 1959. It has undergone several renovations, however,
r1at render it non-contributing. Gamble Valley School was built during the war
1 the Gamble Valley Trailer Camps. Scarboro was served by the school in the
350s until the Oak Ridge school system was integrated in 1955-1956. The school

i1s torn down in the 1950s or 1960s. There are therefore no contributing schools"
ithin the Woodland-Scarboro Historic District.

1e building presently occupied by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
iministration (NOAA) at 456 South Illinois Avenue was originally constructed
iring the war to serve as the "Colored Hutment Area" Health Department. The
lolored Hutment Area" was located at the site of present-day Woodland
:ighborhood and serves as a modern day bridge between Woodland and Scarboro.
: is a one-story H-plan building of frame construction on a concrete foundation.
1@ gable roof is covered with asphalt shingles and has three monitor vents
7enly spaced at the crest. There is a three bay Neoclassical porch on the main
1) facade. The detailing was probably added in the late 1940s or 1950s. There
‘e two original four-light glass and wood doors in the main facade. The entrance
»or in the central bay, however, is ca. 1980 single-light glass and metal door.
riginal six-over-six wood sash windows have been replaced by six-over~six metal
1sh windows. There is an original one-story frame outbuilding situated west of
le main structure. It appears to be a garage of some sort and retains its
‘iginal paneled wood and glass doors ‘as well as an original light fixture. It
's a shed roof of asphalt shingles and retains its original wood siding on three
.des; the main (E) facade has been covered with aluminum siding. There is one -
dern corrugated metal outbuilding and two trailers that are located behind the
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ain buxldlng The building was desxgned and constructed by Stone and Webster
ngineering Corporation.

. Churches

and was set aside in both neighborhoods for the construction of churches and
everal were constructed. The church constructed in Scarboro took several years
5> construct and was not completed until the 1960s. Grace Lutheran Church is a
able-front colonial revival brick church that was built in Woodland, however,
t has been extensively altéred and is therefore non-contributing. Other churches
n Woodland were constructed in the 1960s and 1980s and are non-contributing.

. Commercial buildings

ike the neighborhoods in the cemesto area, Woodland .and Scarboro were both
onstructed with small commercial areas.  These commercial centers have been
xtensively altered, however, and retain few original architectural
raracteristics. The Scarboro district was destroyed by fire and replaced by a
>dern structure. Most post-war commercial development occurred along the Oak
idge Turnpike and South Illinois Avenue as these were the only streets with land
srailable- for commercial development. These commercial areas are not located

ithin the boundaries of the district and have always been distinct from both
2ighborhoods.
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he Woodland-Scarboro Historic District is significant within the context of Oak.
idge’s role as one of the first "atomic cities". The district contains two
eighborhoods that were constructed according to the guidelines established in
OM’'s Master Plan for the City of Oak Ridge and is therefore meets National
egister criterion C for significance. The district is also eligible for listing
nder criteria consideration G, as it has achieved its significance within the
ast fifty years. The district is also significant in the area of black history
nd is eligible under criterion A because it reflects the "separate but equal”
olicies of the federal government concerning racial segregation.

OM had designed Oak Ridge as a temporary townsite that was to last only for the
uration of the war. The Atomic Energy Commission was created in 1947 when
ongress announced that peacetime operations would continue at the Oak Ridge
acilities. Woodland and Scarboro represent the post-war establishment of Oak
idge as a permanent city. Wartime housing construction had not even ceased
ofore new and permanent neighborhoods were planned to replace the trailers,
itments, and dilapidated TVA flattops. The one- and two-family houses in these
v0 new neighborhoods were built according to ten SOM designs. Like their war-
ime predecessors, they were designed to be energy and space efficient. The
2ighborhoods themselves were also designed efficiently with the houses placed
t varied setbacks and at angles to each other in order to give an illusion of
rivacy to the residents of the densely-populated neighborhoods.

>st-war AEC policies reflected standing war-time policies that forbade racial
iscrimination on all defense projects (FDR's Executive Order 8802, 1941).
wever, it was also government policy to respect and obey local laws, which in
annessee included segregation iaws. The post-war district is significant because
- reflects a change in attitude by the federal government towards racial
iscrimination and, more importantly in the implementation of these laws. While
:ill1 housed in separate facilities, black workers in Oak Ridge were given a
>uder voice in housing issues. Before building Scarboro, AEC consulted black
>mmunity leaders about the location of the new neighborhood. Rejecting an East
.1lage location, they chose Gamble Valley. The city followed separate but equal
:gregation policies by providing the black community with housing in Scarboro
1at was nearly identical to that in the white neighborhood of Woodland. Nearly
lentical because it is . significant that the majority of the houses in Scarboro
‘e duplexes, whereas the majority of Woodland houses are single-family homes.
.acks were given a freer voice in Oak Ridge because the city was a defense
istallation under federal control and was therefore compelled not to
.scriminate. The old Scarboro School on Bethel Valley Road served as the high
:hool for Scarboro neighborhood residents and was the first and only high schdol
'r black students in Anderson County. Again, because it was under federal
wrisdiction, Oak Ridge became the first school system in the state of Tennessee,
«d one of the first in the deep South, to integrate in '1956. '
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't is significant that Scarboro was constructed especially for the black
ommunity. That Scarboro included separate schools and a separate commercial area
s evidence of this country’s position concerning non-whites. Constructing
-eparate facilities was seen as progressive at the time, however, in comparison
0 other Southern communities because the city planners (SOM) were providing
omparatively "more equal" facilities for Oak Ridge blacks than those found in
ost unplanned communities. Black leaders were permitted to choose the location
f the neighborhood, instead of having it assigned to them. The neighborhood -has
emained a predominantly middle-class black neighborhood since its inception.
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‘erbal Boundary Description- The district boundary is shown as the solid line
n the accompanying property map of the City of Oak Ridge. Map scale is 1":800°’.
'he boundary of the district is defined on the north by properties along
‘ilberforce Avenue and Purdue Avenue, on the east by properties west of Lafayette
venue, on the south by properties west of Lafayette Avenue and south of Benedict
venue, and on the west by properties along Hampton Road.

oundary Justification: The Woodland-Scarboro Historic District includes two
eighborhoods south of the Oak Ridge Turnpike that were designed by SOM under the
irection of AEC to alleviate post-war housing shortages in Oak Ridge. The
oundaries of the district follow the boundaries of the original neighborhoods..
‘he neighborhoods are joined across South Illinois Avenue by the original wartime
olored Hutment Area Health Department building. The Health Department Building
s surrounded on two sides by new development, with recreational facilities and.
pen lands to the rear (west) of the building. The two neighborhoods were joined

s one district because they have been architecturally and" hlstorlcally
ssociated with one another.
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